Dark matter phase-in: producing feebly-interacting particles after a first-order phase transition

Cristina Benso,^{1,2} Felix Kahlhoefer^{1,2} and Henda Mansour²

¹Institut für Astroteilchen Physik, Karlsruher Institut für Technologie (KIT), Hermann-von-Helmholtz-Platz 1, 76344 Eggenstein-Leopoldshafen, Germany

²Institute for Theoretical Particle Physics (TTP), Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT), D-76131 Karlsruhe, Germany

E-mail: cristina.benso@kit.edu, kahlhoefer@kit.edu, henda.mansour@kit.edu

ABSTRACT: The freeze-in mechanism describes the out-of-equilibrium production of dark matter (DM) particles via feeble couplings or non-renormalisable interactions with large suppression scales. In the latter case, predictions suffer from a strong sensitivity to the initial conditions of the universe, such as the details of reheating. In this work, we investigate how this sensitivity is altered in the presence of a cosmological first-order phase transition. We show that freeze-in via non-renormalisable interactions is not always dominated by the highest temperatures of the Standard Model (SM) thermal bath, but instead may be governed by the period immediately after the phase transition, during which the decaying scalar field transfers its energy density to the SM radiation. We refer to this alternative production regime as DM phase-in. Using numerical and approximate analytical solutions of the relevant Boltzmann equations, we determine the conditions that under which phasein or conventional freeze-in production dominates the final DM abundance in terms of the type of interaction between the DM and SM particles, the amount of supercooling before and the evolution of the scalar field after the phase transition. In the phase-in regime, the DM abundance is correlated with the peak frequency of the gravitational wave signal associated with the phase transition, opening up new observational possibilities.

KEYWORDS: Cosmology of Theories BSM, Phase Transitions in the Early Universe, Early Universe Particle Physics, Particle Nature of Dark Matter

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	General set-up	3
3	Detailed evolution: Analytical approximations	6
	3.1 Stage I: Post-inflationary radiation domination	7
	3.2 Stage II: Vacuum domination and phase transition	8
	3.3 Stage III: Reheating through scalar field decays	9
	3.4 Stage IV: Return to radiation domination	10
	3.5 Combining all contributions	10
	3.6 Instantaneous scalar decays	11
4	Detailed evolution: Comparison with numerical results	11
5	Conditions for dark matter phase-in	14
6	Phenomenological implications	20
	6.1 Decaying axion-like particles and nano-Hertz gravitational waves	20
	6.2 Sterile neutrinos as a mixture of warm and cold dark matter	21
7	Conclusions	23
A	Better estimates for the end of stage III	25

1 Introduction

All present evidence for dark matter (DM) is based exclusively on its gravitational interactions, and the extent to which DM particles have non-gravitational interactions with known matter is completely unknown [1]. Nevertheless, many models of DM assume that such interactions exist and that they are sufficient to bring DM into equilibrium with the Standard Model (SM) thermal bath in the very early universe, after which DM particles become Boltzmann suppressed and freeze out. The interaction strength required for this process to reproduce the observed DM abundance leads to testable predictions for laboratory experiments, which have so far not been able to confirm the freeze-out picture.

In light of these null results, an alternative DM production mechanism has gained traction in recent years, in which the non-gravitational interactions between DM and SM particles are too weak to ever bring the different species into equilibrium. In this so-called freeze-in mechanism [2–7], DM is gradually produced via "energy leakage" from the thermal bath of SM particles. The couplings required to reproduce the observed DM abundance are

then many orders of magnitude smaller than for the freeze-out mechanism, complying with existing data and offering promising targets for future experiments [8–15]. Over recent years, calculations of freeze-in production have reached a high level of sophistication, with automated tools [16, 17] including thermal corrections and quantum effects [18–23].

The freeze-in mechanism, however, comes with two complications not present in the freeze-out picture. The first is that, since no equilibrium state is ever reached, the final abundance depends on the initial conditions, i.e., the abundance of DM particles before freeze-in becomes efficient. In the literature, it is commonly assumed that this initial abundance is zero, although various works have pointed out that DM production through gravitational effects [24–29] or inflationary dynamics [30–34] may be non-negligible. The second is that in many models the freeze-in abundance is directly sensitive to the details of reheating, i.e. to the temperature when the universe first entered radiation domination [35–37]. This is in particular the case for DM production via effective operators (induced by new physics above the reheating temperature [38, 39]) and for DM particles with a mass above the reheating temperature.

These issues become particularly relevant in models with a low reheating temperature [40, 41], which have received considerable attention recently because they allow freezein with comparably large couplings [42–46]. A common assumption in these models is that inflationary reheating is followed by a second period of reheating, in which the universe deviates from radiation domination and the entropy of the SM thermal bath is not conserved. The simplest realization of this idea is to consider an out-of-equilibrium matter component that slowly decays into relativistic SM particles after an early period of matter domination [8, 47–49]. Alternative possibilities for the equation of state of the universe and the temperature dependence of the energy transfer have been explored in several recent studies [50, 51]. However, these studies typically assume that the final DM abundance is determined exclusively by the second period of reheating and that any earlier contributions can be neglected (see however ref. [52] for a notable exception).

In the present work, we study this assumption in a general way by considering a scalar field that undergoes a first-order phase transition in the early universe.¹ Following inflationary reheating, the scalar field sits at a false minimum with sizeable vacuum energy, from which it transitions to the true minimum at some lower temperature. After the phase transition, the oscillations of the scalar field around the true minimum decay into SM particles, leading to a second period of reheating. This set-up comprises the case of early matter domination, but also allows for the possibility that the scalar field dominates the energy density of the universe before the phase transition, leading to a period of accelerated expansion. In this case, it is possible that the SM temperature increases rapidly after the phase transition, provided the scalar field oscillations decay sufficiently quickly.

We derive analytical approximations that describe the various stages of cosmological evolution, which we validate against numerical solutions of the coupled system of Boltzmann equations. We then determine the conditions that must be fulfilled in order for the

¹The impact of the electroweak phase transition on the freeze-in production of DM was previously explored in refs. [53, 54]. Other studies have studied the impact of a dark sector phase transition on how DM particles can be produced or destroyed [55–57].

final abundance of DM to be determined primarily by the details of the phase transition and the subsequent reheating and to be insensitive to the details of inflationary reheating. We refer to this scenario as *DM phase-in*, both because DM production happens in several phases and because the dominant contribution follows from a first-order phase transition.

Another intriguing possibility is that the freeze-in contribution (from inflationary reheating) and the phase-in contribution (from the second period of reheating) are of comparable magnitude. In this case, our set-up predicts that the two populations would have substantially different temperatures, such that a mixture of warm and cold DM can be achieved from a single particle species. We discuss possible implications for Lyman-alpha forest data and the 21-cm signal [58–61].

The remainder of this work is structured as follows. In section 2, we discuss the general set-up that we consider and define the different stages of cosmological evolution. In section 3, we provide the relevant Boltzmann equations and present approximate analytical solutions, which we compare with numerical results in section 4. In section 5, we finally determine the regions of parameter space that correspond to DM phase-in, followed by a discussion of possible implications for observations in section 6. Our conclusions are presented in section 7. Appendix A provides additional details on our calculations.

2 General set-up

In this study, we consider a universe that – after inflation and the subsequent reheating – is filled with four different energy components: a bath of relativistic SM particles, a bath of relativistic dark sector particles, i.e. dark radiation (DR), a scalar field ϕ and a DM species. We denote the corresponding energy densities by $\rho_{\rm SM}$, $\rho_{\rm DR}$, ρ_{ϕ} and $\rho_{\rm DM}$, respectively. We do not consider the details of primordial reheating and simply start our discussion at the reheating temperature $T_{\rm RH}$, i.e. the highest temperature at which the universe is dominated by radiation.²

We assume that the reheating temperature is large enough that all SM particles are in equilibrium with each other and can be described by a common temperature T, such that

$$\rho_{\rm SM} = \frac{\pi^2}{30} g_\star T^4 \tag{2.1}$$

with g_{\star} denoting the effective number of relativistic degrees of freedom. Likewise, the energy density of dark radiation is given by

$$\rho_{\rm DR} = \frac{\pi^2}{30} g_{\rm DR} T_{\rm DR}^4 \ . \tag{2.2}$$

We assume that the two radiation baths are extremely weakly coupled, such that their temperatures can in principle be different: $T_{\text{DR}} \neq T$. The precise value of T_{DR} plays however no role in the subsequent discussion, so that we set $T_{\text{DR}} = T$ for simplicity. We

²We emphasize that the maximal temperature T_{max} of the universe can be higher than the temperature T_{RH} at which the universe first enters radiation domination [62]. However, it has been shown that in most cases of interest, the freeze-in yield depends only on T_{RH} and not on T_{max} [45, 63]. We will return to this issue in section 3.3.

furthermore assume that $g_{\rm DR}$ is small enough that the energy density of dark radiation only gives a tiny contribution to the total energy density, i.e. that $\rho_{\rm DR} \ll \rho_{\rm SM}$. For concreteness, we set $g_{\rm DR} = 2$, as appropriate for example for a gauge field.

Nevertheless, the dark radiation plays an important role because it strongly couples to the scalar field ϕ and gives rise to thermal corrections that create a temperature-dependent effective potential $V(\phi, T)$ and determine the evolution of the scalar field. Since we are interested in describing the impact of a first-order phase transition on freeze-in in a general manner, we do not specify the details of these interactions and the resulting potential, but simply assume that the scalar field initially sits in a metastable vacuum of the scalar potential, such that its energy density is constant and given by the latent heat

$$\rho_{\phi} = \Delta V , \qquad (2.3)$$

where ΔV is the potential energy difference between the false and true minima. As the universe cools down, the potential barrier separating the two minima decreases, and the scalar field can transition to the true minimum through the nucleation, expansion and collision of bubbles.

The DM component is assumed to be very feebly coupled to both the SM and the DR thermal baths and never enters into equilibrium with either of them. We also assume that primordial reheating does not produce DM, such that $\rho_{\rm DM}(T_{\rm RH}) = 0$. Subsequently, DM particles are produced from the SM thermal bath via the freeze-in mechanism. We do not specify the details of the production process, but simply assume that it proceeds via a non-renormalisable operator of dimension 4+n with n > 0. If the mass of the DM particles is negligible compared to T, the production cross section can on dimensional grounds be written as

$$\langle \sigma v \rangle = \frac{T^{2(n-1)}}{\Lambda^{2n}} , \qquad (2.4)$$

where Λ is the energy scale at which the interaction is generated, see also ref. [35].

The Hubble rate is given by the Friedmann's equation,

$$H = \frac{\dot{a}}{a} = \sqrt{\frac{8\pi}{3M_{\rm Pl}^2}(\rho_{\rm SM} + \rho_{\phi} + \rho_{\rm DR})} , \qquad (2.5)$$

where $M_{\rm Pl} = 1.22 \times 10^{19} \,\text{GeV}$ is the Planck mass, *a* is the scale factor and $\rho_{\rm tot} = \rho_{\rm SM} + \rho_{\phi} + \rho_{\rm DR}$. The DM contribution $\rho_{\rm DM}$ to the dynamics of the expansion can be ignored, since its energy density is very small in the early universe.

The subsequent evolution of the universe can be divided into several stages:

- Stage I: The universe is radiation dominated, such that $H \propto T^2$ and the entropy of the SM thermal bath is conserved (neglecting the tiny amount of DM production), such that $T \propto a^{-1}$.
- **Stage II:** As the universe cools down, the vacuum energy of the scalar field will start to dominate the energy density of the universe, leading to a period of accelerated expansion, which will rapidly deplete and cool down the SM and DR thermal baths.

This in turn triggers the first-order phase transition of the scalar field to the true minimum.

The redshift corresponding to the transition from stage I to stage II, i.e. the beginning of vacuum domination (VD), can be calculated from the condition $\rho_{\phi}(a_{\rm VD}) \approx \rho_{\rm SM}(a_{\rm VD})$ as

$$a_{\rm VD} \approx a_{\rm RH} T_{\rm RH} \left(\frac{\pi^2}{30} \frac{g_{\star}}{\Delta V}\right)^{1/4}$$
 (2.6)

The temperature $T_{\rm PT}$ of the phase transition can in principle be calculated from $V(\phi, T)$, but in our simplified approach we simply take it as a free parameter. The corresponding redshift is given by

$$a_{\rm PT} \approx a_{\rm RH} \left(\frac{T_{\rm RH}}{T_{\rm PT}}\right)$$
 (2.7)

During the phase transition, the vacuum energy present in stage II is quickly converted into oscillations of the scalar field around the true minimum. Moreover, the vacuum expectation value of the scalar field gives mass to the DR particles, which rapidly decay or annihilate into scalar field excitations (see refs. [64, 65] for concrete examples of this set-up). While the scalar field still dominates the energy density of the universe, it no longer behaves like vacuum energy, but instead has an energy density that decreases as the universe expands. Moreover, the scalar field excitations can decay into SM particles with a characteristic timescale Γ , which we assume to be constant for simplicity.³ This leads to the following stages of evolution:

- Stage III: The universe is dominated by the scalar field ϕ , which slowly decays into SM particles. As a result, the entropy of the SM thermal bath is no longer conserved and the temperature decreases more slowly than a^{-1} . Eventually, the energy density of the SM thermal bath becomes comparable to the energy density of the scalar field, which then quickly becomes negligible.
- Stage IV: The universe once again enters into radiation domination and remains there for the subsequent stages of cosmological evolution, such as Big Bang Nucleosynthesis.

In the literature, it is often assumed that the scalar field oscillations after a first-order phase transition can be treated as coherent, i.e., they behave approximately like matter with pressure $p_{\phi} = 0$, which would lead to a period of early matter domination if the decay of the scalar field is slow (see, for example, [66, 67]). However, given the highly inhomogeneous state of the universe during bubble nucleation and collision, it is far from clear that this assumption holds. We therefore allow for a general equation of state for the scalar field:

$$p_{\phi} = \omega \rho_{\phi} \tag{2.8}$$

 $^{^{3}}$ We emphasize that it is plausible that decays of the scalar field only become relevant after the phase transition, for example if the phase transition spontaneously breaks a discret or continuous symmetry that stabilises the scalar field before the phase transition.

with $\omega = 0$ ($\omega = 1/3$) corresponding to matter (radiation). The energy density of the scalar field then scales as $\rho_{\phi} \propto a^{-3(1+\omega)}$ (as long as decays can be neglected) and the Hubble rate as $H \propto a^{-3(1+\omega)/2}$.

As we will see below, stage III ends approximately when the Hubble rate is equal to the decay rate Γ . This relation can be used to estimate the value of the scale factor when the universe transitions to radiation domination:

$$a_{\rm RD}^{\rm approx} = a_{\rm PT} \left(\frac{\sqrt{8\pi\Delta V/3}}{\Gamma M_{\rm Pl}}\right)^{\frac{2}{3(1+\omega)}} .$$
 (2.9)

The temperature of the SM thermal bath at this point can be obtained from the relation $\rho_{\phi}(a_{\rm RD}) \approx \rho_{\rm SM}(a_{\rm RD})$ as

$$T_{\rm RD}^{\rm approx} = \left(\frac{45}{4g_{\star}\pi^3}\right)^{1/4} \sqrt{\Gamma M_{\rm Pl}} .$$
 (2.10)

As shown in appendix A, these estimates can be refined further in order to obtain a better approximation of the full numerical results. The resulting expressions are

$$a_{\rm RD} = a_{\rm PT} \left(\sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{3}} \frac{(5-3\omega)\sqrt{\Delta V}}{\Gamma M_{\rm Pl}} \right)^{\frac{2}{3(1+\omega)}} , \qquad (2.11)$$

$$T_{\rm RD} = \left(\frac{45}{g_{\star}\pi^3}\right)^{1/4} \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma M_{\rm Pl}}{(5-3\omega)}} .$$
 (2.12)

We will use these more accurate expressions in the following.

The evolution of the energy densities as a function of scale factor is illustrated in figure 1. To summarize, our set-up is described by the following parameters:

- $T_{\rm RH}$ and ΔV describing the initial conditions, see eqs. (2.1) and (2.3);
- $T_{\rm PT}$ and Γ characterising the transition from stage II to stage III (see eq. (2.7)) and from stage III to stage IV (see eq. (2.11)), respectively;
- n describing the temperature dependence of DM production, see eq. (2.4);
- ω determining the equation of state of the scalar field oscillations, see eq. (2.8).

In order to calculate the DM abundance $\Omega_{\rm DM}h^2$, we also need to specify the new physics scale Λ that enters in the DM production rate and the DM mass $m_{\rm DM}$ that is needed to convert from the number density to the energy density of a non-relativistic species. However, as long as the DM mass is small compared to the relevant temperature scales, the relation is quite simple: $\Omega_{\rm DM}h^2 \propto m_{\rm DM}/\Lambda^{2n}$. In particular, these parameters drop out when calculating *relative* changes to the DM relic abundance.

3 Detailed evolution: Analytical approximations

Having introduced the general features of the model that we consider, we now discuss in detail the relevant Boltzmann equations for each stage of the evolution and provide approximate analytical solutions.



Figure 1: Sketch of the evolution of the energy densities of the scalar field (pink), SM radiation bath (orange) and dark matter (purple) during the four stages introduced in section 2. For simplicity, the dark radiation energy density is omitted. At the end of inflationary reheating (RH), the universe is initially radiation dominated and DM is produced via UV freeze-in. A supercooled phase transition (PT) takes place after a period of vacuum domination (VD). After the phase transition, the scalar field behaves as a fluid with an equation of state parameter $\omega \geq 0$. The subsequent decay of the scalar field leads to a second reheating of the SM particles and to an extra contribution to the DM number density. This late production is referred to as *phase-in*. Finally, the universe is radiation dominated (RD) again.

3.1 Stage I: Post-inflationary radiation domination

In the first two stages of the evolution, the differential equations describing the energy densities of the SM thermal bath and the scalar field are simply given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\rho_{\phi}}{\mathrm{d}a} = 0 \;, \tag{3.1}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\rho_{\mathrm{SM}}}{\mathrm{d}a} = -\frac{4}{a}\rho_{\mathrm{SM}} \ . \tag{3.2}$$

In other words, the scalar energy density is constant, while the SM radiation energy densities decreases proportional to a^{-4} . An analogous equation holds for the DR energy density but is not relevant for the further discussion.

To study the production of DM via the freeze-in mechanism, it is convenient to consider the Boltzmann equation for the DM number density:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}n_{\mathrm{DM}}}{\mathrm{d}a} = -\frac{3}{a}n_{\mathrm{DM}} + \frac{\langle \sigma v \rangle}{aH}n_{\mathrm{SM}}^2 , \qquad (3.3)$$

where $n_{\rm SM}(T) = \frac{\zeta(3)}{\pi^2} g_n T^3$ is the number density of SM particles with g_n denoting the relevant degrees of freedom.⁴

To obtain a simple analytical estimate for n_{DM} , we can approximate the Hubble rate as being determined solely by the energy density of the SM thermal bath

$$H \approx \sqrt{\frac{4\pi^3 g_*}{45}} \frac{T_{\rm RH}^2}{M_{Pl}} \left(\frac{a_{\rm RH}}{a}\right)^2 \,.$$
 (3.4)

In this case, the Boltzmann equation can be rewritten as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}n_{\mathrm{DM}}}{\mathrm{d}a} = -\frac{3}{a}n_{\mathrm{DM}} + \frac{\left(n_{\mathrm{SM}}^{\mathrm{RH}}\right)^2}{\Lambda^{2n}}\sqrt{\frac{45}{4\pi^3 g_\star}} \frac{a_{\mathrm{RH}}^{2(n+1)}}{a^{2n+3}} M_{\mathrm{Pl}} T_{\mathrm{RH}}^{2(n-2)} , \qquad (3.5)$$

where $n_{\rm SM}^{\rm RH}$ is the SM number density at reheating. Eq. (3.3) then yields

$$n_{\rm DM}^{\rm I}(a) = \frac{n_{\rm SM}^2(T_{\rm RH})}{\Lambda^{2n}} \sqrt{\frac{45M_{\rm Pl}^2}{4\pi^3 g_\star}} \frac{T_{\rm RH}^{2(n-2)}}{2n-1} \times \left[\left(\frac{a_{\rm RH}}{a}\right)^3 - \left(\frac{a_{\rm RH}}{a}\right)^{2(n+1)} \right] , \qquad (3.6)$$

which for $n \ge 1$ and $a \gg a_{\rm RH}$ can be approximated as

$$n_{\rm DM}^{\rm I}(T) = \left(\frac{\zeta(3)g_n}{\pi^2}\right)^2 \sqrt{\frac{45}{4\pi^3 g_\star}} \frac{M_{\rm Pl}}{\Lambda^{2n}} \frac{T_{\rm RH}^{2n-1}}{2n-1} T^3 \propto \frac{T_{\rm RH}^{2n-1} T^3 M_{\rm Pl}}{\Lambda^{2n}} \quad . \tag{3.7}$$

This is the well-known result for ultraviolet freeze-in: the comoving DM number density $n_{\rm DM}a^3$ is sensitive to $T_{\rm RH}$ and becomes independent of T for $T \ll T_{\rm RH}$. The total amount of DM produced in stage I is obtained by evaluating $n_{\rm DM}$ at $T = T_{\rm VD}$. Since in our set-up, DM particles are only produced and never destroyed, this abundance will remain until the present day. Its contribution to the total DM density at later times is simply given by a dilution factor proportional to $(a_{\rm VD}/a)^3$.

3.2 Stage II: Vacuum domination and phase transition

The differential equations describing this stage are the same as for the previous one. However, the Hubble rate is now dominated by the energy density of the scalar field, such that

$$H \approx \sqrt{\frac{8\pi\Delta V}{3M_{Pl}^2}} \tag{3.8}$$

which leads to a different scaling of the DM number density:

$$n_{\rm DM}^{\rm II}(a) = \frac{n_{\rm SM, VD}^2}{\Lambda^{2n} H} \frac{T_{\rm VD}^{2(n-1)}}{2n+1} \times \left[\left(\frac{a_{\rm VD}}{a}\right)^3 - \left(\frac{a_{\rm VD}}{a}\right)^{4+2n} \right] \,. \tag{3.9}$$

For $a \gg a_{\rm VD}$ this leads to

$$n_{\rm DM}^{\rm II}(T) \propto \frac{T_{\rm VD}^{2n+1} M_{\rm Pl} T^3}{\Lambda^{2n} \sqrt{\Delta V}} \propto \frac{T_{\rm VD}^{2n-1} M_{\rm Pl} T^3}{\Lambda^{2n}} ,$$
 (3.10)

where in the last step we have used that $\rho_{\rm SM}(T_{\rm VD}) = \Delta V$. It follows that for $T_{\rm VD} \ll T_{\rm RH}$ the amount of DM produced during the second stage is negligible compared to the production during stage I.

⁴In a realistic model, only some of the SM particles will participate in the production of DM particles. As long as all relevant particles are relativistic, this changes the production rate only by a constant factor, which can be absorbed into an appropriate redefinition of Λ .

3.3 Stage III: Reheating through scalar field decays

After the phase transition, the evolution of the scalar field and the SM thermal bath are given by the Boltzmann equations

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\rho_{\phi}}{\mathrm{d}a} = -\frac{3(1+\omega)}{a}\rho_{\phi} - \frac{\Gamma}{aH}\rho_{\phi}, \qquad (3.11)$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\rho_{\mathrm{SM}}}{\mathrm{d}a} = -\frac{4}{a}\rho_{\mathrm{SM}} + \frac{\Gamma}{aH}\rho_{\phi} , \qquad (3.12)$$

which implicitly define the decay rate Γ . The energy injection term proportional to Γ implies that the SM radiation energy density no longer evolves adiabatically, i.e. it no longer decreases as $\rho_{\rm SM} \propto a^{-4}$.

To obtain an approximate analytical solution, we make use of the fact that $\Gamma < H$ during stage III, such that we can neglect the second term on the right-hand side of eq. (3.11):

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\rho_{\phi}}{\mathrm{d}a} \approx -\frac{3(1+\omega)}{a}\rho_{\phi} \,. \tag{3.13}$$

Using furthermore that the energy density of the scalar field gives the dominant contribution to the Hubble rate, we obtain

$$H \approx \sqrt{\frac{8\pi\Delta V}{3M_{\rm Pl}^2}} \left(\frac{a_{\rm PT}}{a}\right)^{3(1+\omega)/2} , \qquad (3.14)$$

which we can use to solve eq. (3.12) and obtain

$$\rho_{\rm SM}^{\rm III}(a) = \frac{\pi^2}{30} g_* \left(\frac{a_{\rm PT}}{a}\right)^4 \left(T_{\rm PT}^4 + \frac{\Gamma M_{\rm Pl}}{(5-3\omega)} \frac{60}{\pi^2 g_*} \sqrt{\frac{3\Delta V}{8\pi}} \left[\left(\frac{a}{a_{\rm PT}}\right)^{5/2-3\omega/2} - 1 \right] \right)$$
$$= \frac{\pi^2}{30} g_* \left(\frac{a_{\rm PT}}{a}\right)^4 \left(T_{\rm PT}^4 + T_{\Gamma}^4 \left[\left(\frac{a}{a_{\rm PT}}\right)^{5/2-3\omega/2} - 1 \right] \right)$$
(3.15)

where in the second line we have defined

$$T_{\Gamma}^{4} \equiv \frac{\Gamma M_{\rm Pl}}{(5-3\omega)} \frac{60}{\pi^{2} g_{\star}} \sqrt{\frac{3\Delta V}{8\pi}}$$
(3.16)

to simplify notation. The first term in eq. (3.15) corresponds to the pre-existing SM energy density, while the second term corresponds to the one produced through scalar field decays.

For a supercooled phase transition with $\Delta V \gg \rho_{\rm SM}^{\rm PT}$ and a sufficiently slow scalar field decay (such that $a_{\rm RD} \gg a_{\rm PT}$) the second term dominates as $a \to a_{\rm RD}$, such that we can approximate

$$n_{\rm SM}(a) = \frac{\zeta(3)}{\pi^2} g_n T_{\Gamma}^3 \left(\frac{a}{a_{\rm PT}}\right)^{\frac{-9(1+\omega)}{8}} .$$
(3.17)

Using this expression for $n_{\rm SM}(a)$, the additional contribution to the DM freeze-in from stage III is found to be

$$n_{\rm DM}^{\rm III}(a) = T_{\Gamma}^{4+2n} \left(\frac{\zeta(3)g_n}{\Lambda^n \pi^2}\right)^2 \sqrt{\frac{2}{3\pi\Delta V}} \frac{M_{\rm Pl}}{4 - n(\omega+1)} \left[\left(\frac{a_{\rm PT}}{a}\right)^{(\omega+1)3n/4} - \left(\frac{a_{\rm PT}}{a}\right)^3 \right]$$
(3.18)

for $n \neq 4/(\omega + 1)$. In the following, we will focus on $n < 4/(\omega + 1)$, such that the first term in the final bracket dominates for $a \gg a_{\rm PT}$. Re-substituting T_{Γ} from eq. (3.16) and evaluating the resulting expression at $a_{\rm RD}$ as given in eq. (2.11) yields

$$n_{\rm DM}^{\rm III}(a_{\rm RD}) = \frac{30\zeta(3)^2 g_n^2}{\pi^7 g_\star [4 - n(1 + \omega)]} \left(\frac{45}{\pi^3 g_\star}\right)^{n/2} \frac{M_{\rm Pl} (M_{\rm Pl}\Gamma)^{1+n}}{(5 - 3w)^{(1+n)}\Lambda^{2n}} \propto \frac{T_{\rm RD}^{2(1+n)} M_{\rm Pl}}{\Lambda^{2n}}$$
(3.19)

with $T_{\rm RD}$ given in eq. (2.12). Interestingly, we find that the final result is independent of the temperature of the phase transition and the initial energy density of the scalar field. This finding generalises the known result that for an early period of matter domination $(\omega = 0)$ freeze-in is UV-insensitive for n < 4 [8, 36, 68].

3.4 Stage IV: Return to radiation domination

DM production during stage IV can be calculated in complete analogy to stage I. Since the universe is now once again in a period of radiation domination, freeze-in production is UV-dominated, i.e. sensitive to $T_{\rm RD}$. We find for $a \gg a_{\rm RD}$:

$$n_{\rm DM}^{\rm IV}(a) \approx \frac{n_{\rm SM,RD}^2}{\Lambda^{2n}} \sqrt{\frac{45M_{\rm Pl}^2}{4\pi^3 g_*}} \frac{T_{\rm RD}^{2(n-2)}}{2n-1} \left(\frac{a_{\rm RD}}{a}\right)^3 \propto \frac{T_{\rm RD}^{2n-1} T^3 M_{\rm Pl}}{\Lambda^{2n}} \quad . \tag{3.20}$$

We will see that the late contributions from stages III and IV can constitute a significant part of the final DM abundance even if $a_{\rm RD}$ is orders of magnitude larger than $a_{\rm RH}$.

3.5 Combining all contributions

From the previous results, the total DM density at late times i.e $a \gg a_{\rm RD}$ is given by

$$n_{\rm DM}^{\rm tot}(a) = n_{\rm DM}^{\rm I}(a_{\rm VD}) \left(\frac{a_{\rm VD}}{a}\right)^3 + n_{\rm DM}^{\rm II}(a_{\rm PT}) \left(\frac{a_{\rm PT}}{a}\right)^3 + n_{\rm DM}^{\rm III}(a_{\rm RD}) \left(\frac{a_{\rm RD}}{a}\right)^3 + n_{\rm DM}^{\rm IV}(a) .$$
(3.21)

Since the entropy of the SM thermal bath is conserved in stages II and IV, it follows that $a_{\rm VD}/a_{\rm PT} = T_{\rm PT}/T_{\rm VD}$ and $a_{\rm RD}/a = T/T_{\rm RD}$. However, during stage III the total entropy S of the SM changes by a factor

$$D = \frac{S_{\rm RD}}{S_{\rm PT}} = \left(\frac{T_{\rm RD}a_{\rm RD}}{T_{\rm PT}a_{\rm PT}}\right)^3 = \left(\frac{90}{8\pi^3 g_\star}\right)^{3/4} \left(\frac{2\,\Gamma M_{\rm Pl}}{5-3\omega}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}-\frac{2}{1+\omega}} \left(\frac{8\pi\Delta V}{3}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+\omega}} T_{\rm PT}^{-3} \,. \tag{3.22}$$

Using this dilution factor, we can rewrite the total number density as a function of temperature as

$$n_{\rm DM}^{\rm tot}(T) = \frac{1}{D} \left[n_{\rm DM}^{\rm I}(a_{\rm VD}) \left(\frac{T}{T_{\rm VD}}\right)^3 + n_{\rm DM}^{\rm II}(a_{\rm PT}) \left(\frac{T}{T_{\rm PT}}\right)^3 \right] + n_{\rm DM}^{\rm III}(a_{\rm RD}) \left(\frac{T}{T_{\rm RD}}\right)^3 + n_{\rm DM}^{\rm IV}(T)$$

$$(3.23)$$

As discussed above, the contribution from stage II can be neglected for $T_{\rm VD} \ll T_{\rm RH}$. The contributions from stage III and stage IV are both found to be proportional to $T_{\rm RD}^{2n-1}$, i.e. we can write

$$n_{\rm DM}^{\rm III}(a_{\rm RD}) \left(\frac{T}{T_{\rm RD}}\right)^3 = \kappa n_{\rm DM}^{\rm IV}(T)$$
(3.24)

with

$$\kappa = \frac{4(2n-1)}{3(4-n(1+\omega))} \left(\frac{5-3w}{2}\right)^{n/2}$$
(3.25)

depending only on n and ω . For n = 1 and $0 \le \omega \le 1/3$, we find κ around 0.7, while for n > 1 it becomes close to unity.

The total DM abundance can therefore be written as

$$n_{\rm DM}^{\rm tot}(T) \approx \left(\frac{\zeta(3)g_{\star}}{\pi^2}\right)^2 \sqrt{\frac{45}{4\pi^3 g_n}} \frac{T^3 M_{\rm Pl}}{\Lambda^{2n}} \left[\frac{T_{\rm RH}^{2n-1}}{D} + (1+\kappa)T_{\rm RD}^{2n-1}\right] \,. \tag{3.26}$$

In the following, we will refer to the first term in the square bracket as the *freeze-in* contribution to the DM density, and to the second term as the *phase-in* contribution. From this result, the present-day abundance of DM can be calculated using entropy conservation:

$$\Omega_{\rm DM} h^2 = \frac{m_{\rm DM} \, n_{\rm DM}^{\rm tot}(T_{\rm end})}{s(T_{\rm end})} \frac{s_0}{\rho_{c,0}/h^2} \,, \tag{3.27}$$

where $h = H_0/(100 \,\mathrm{km \, s^{-1} \, Mpc^{-1}} \approx 0.68, s(T)$ denotes the SM entropy density, s_0 its present-day value and $\rho_{c,0}$ the critical density of the present universe. The temperature $T_{\rm end}$ should be sufficiently smaller than $T_{\rm RD}$ but is otherwise arbitrary.

3.6 Instantaneous scalar decays

In the discussion above we have assumed that the scalar field decays slowly, i.e. that immediately after the phase transition $\Gamma \ll H$. However, it is also conceivable that Γ is so large that the scalar field oscillations decay immediately after the phase transition. In this case, all of the energy stored in the scalar field is rapidly transferred to the SM thermal bath, such that $a_{\rm PT} = a_{\rm RD}$ and stage III is absent. For a strongly supercooled phase transition, the temperature at the beginning of stage IV is then given by $\rho_{\rm SM}(T_{\rm RD}) = \Delta V$ and hence

$$T_{\rm RD}^{\rm inst} = \left(\frac{30\Delta V}{\pi^2 g_{\star}}\right)^{1/4} \tag{3.28}$$

independent of Γ and ω . Using this expression for $T_{\rm RD}$, the DM density produced during stage IV is again given by eq. (3.20).

We can write the total DM abundance produced in this case in the same form as eq. (3.26) with κ replaced by $\kappa^{\text{inst}} = 0$ and D replaced by

$$D^{\text{inst}} = \left(\frac{T_{\text{RD}}^{\text{inst}}}{T_{\text{PT}}}\right)^3 \,. \tag{3.29}$$

4 Detailed evolution: Comparison with numerical results

At first sight, some of the approximations made in the previous section may seem rather crude. However, in this section, we demonstrate that the resulting analytical expressions provide an accurate estimate of both the overall evolution of the system and the final DM abundance calculated numerically. The numerical results correspond to the full solution of the following system of equations:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\rho_{\phi}}{\mathrm{d}a} = -\frac{3(1+\omega)}{a}\rho_{\phi} - \frac{\Gamma}{aH}\rho_{\phi} , \qquad (4.1)$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\rho_{\mathrm{SM}}}{\mathrm{d}a} = -\frac{4}{a}\rho_{\mathrm{SM}} + \frac{\Gamma}{aH}\rho_{\phi} , \qquad (4.2)$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}n_{\mathrm{DM}}}{\mathrm{d}a} = -\frac{3}{a}n_{\mathrm{DM}} + \frac{\langle \sigma v \rangle}{aH}n_{\mathrm{SM}}^2 \,. \tag{4.3}$$

The Hubble rate H includes all contributions as defined in eq. (2.5). Unlike the analytical approach, the numerical solver does not differentiate between stage I and II, nor between stage III and IV. We only make the distinction between before and after the phase transition: for $a < a_{\rm PT}$, the scalar field behaves as a constant vacuum energy component (with $\omega = -1$ and $\Gamma = 0$), while for $a > a_{\rm PT}$, it decays like a matter- or radiation-like fluid (with $0 \le \omega \le 1/3$ and $\Gamma \ne 0$). To precisely determine the scale factor $a_{\rm PT}$ corresponding to the phase transition temperature, we track the evolution of DR until $T_{\rm RD} = T_{\rm PT}$. The transition from before to after the phase transition is defined by requiring continuity

$$\rho_{\phi}^{\text{after}}(a_{\text{PT}}) = \rho_{\phi}^{\text{before}}(a_{\text{PT}}) + \rho_{\text{DR}}^{\text{before}}(a_{\text{PT}}) , \qquad (4.4)$$

$$\rho_{\rm SM}^{\rm after}(a_{\rm PT}) = \rho_{\rm SM}^{\rm before}(a_{\rm PT}), \qquad (4.5)$$

$$n_{\rm DM}^{\rm after}(a_{\rm PT}) = n_{\rm DM}^{\rm before}(a_{\rm PT}).$$

$$(4.6)$$

In the first line, we added the energy density of the dark radiation to that of the scalar field, since in our set-up we assume that these particles become heavy due to the non-zero VEV of ϕ and decay rapidly into scalar field excitations.

We solve the system of equations numerically up to a pre-specified scale factor a_{end} shortly after the reestablishment of radiation domination. For $a > a_{end}$, the SM entropy density scales as $(a_{end}/a)^3$. However, since late-time DM production is not completely negligible, we include an analytical correction term. The DM number density today is then given by:

$$n_{\rm DM}^{\rm today}(a) = \frac{s_0}{s_{\rm SM}(a_{\rm end})} \left(n_{\rm DM}(a_{\rm end}) + n_{\rm DM}^{\rm late} \right) , \qquad (4.7)$$

where s_0 and $s_{\rm SM}(a_{\rm end})$ refer respectively to the SM entropy density today and after the decay of the scalar. The late-time contribution to $n_{\rm DM}^{\rm today}$ is given by the analytical solution for freeze-in production during radiation domination (see the discussion of stage I and IV above):

$$n_{\rm DM}^{\rm late} = \frac{n_{\rm SM,end}^2}{\Lambda^{2n}} \sqrt{\frac{45M_{\rm Pl}^2}{4\pi^3 g_*}} \frac{T_{\rm end}^{2(n-2)}}{2n-1} \left(1 - \left(\frac{m_{\rm DM}}{T_{\rm end}}\right)^{2n-1}\right).$$
(4.8)

The last term captures the kinematic suppression of DM production for $T < m_{\rm DM}$.

Once we include the analytical correction term for the late-time contribution to the DM density, the precise value of the endpoint a_{end} becomes irrelevant, provided that a_{end} is large enough to fully capture the transition to radiation domination, yet small enough to ensure that $T_{end} > m_{DM}$. In practice, we set $a_{end} = 3 \max(a_{RD}, a_{PT})$ with a_{RD} given in eq. (2.11), noting that the case $a_{RD} < a_{PT}$ simply means that the scalar field starts



Figure 2: Comparison of the analytical solutions presented in section 3 with the full numerical results for freeze-in proceeding through a 5-dimensional operator (n = 1) and assuming that the decaying scalar field behaves as matter ($\omega = 0$). As an example benchmark point, we consider $m_{\rm DM} = 1$ MeV, $T_{\rm RH} = 3 \cdot 10^3$ GeV, $T_{\rm PT} = 300$ GeV, $\Delta V = 10^{13}$ GeV⁴, $\Gamma = 10^{-14}$ GeV and $\Lambda = 1.88 \cdot 10^{13}$ GeV. The suppression scale Λ has been chosen such that the correct relic density of DM is produced. Left: Evolution of the energy densities of the scalar field and the SM radiation bath as well as the number density of DM as a function of the scale factor before and after the phase transition. $\Omega_{\rm DM}^{\rm num} h^2$ and $\Omega_{\rm DM}^{\rm ana} h^2$ correspond respectively to the relic density computed from the numerical and analytical results. Right: The analytical results (dashed lines) for the produced DM number density as a function of the scale factor in each of the four stages compared to the full numerical result (solid line).

decaying immediately after the phase transition, such that $a_{\rm PT}$ is the relevant scale for the transition to radiation domination. We then use eqs. (4.7) and (3.27) to determine the relic density today. In the following, we will denote the numerical result as $\Omega_{\rm DM}^{\rm num}h^2$ in order to distinguish it from the analytical approximation $\Omega_{\rm DM}^{\rm ana}h^2$.

We compare the analytical and numerical results for a chosen benchmark point in figure 2. The left panel shows the evolution of the energy densities of the SM radiation bath and the scalar field, as well as the number density of DM particles (multiplied with the DM mass to obtain the unit of an energy density), and demonstrates good agreement between the numerical and analytical curves. Furthermore, to emphasize the difference between phase-in and the standard freeze-in scenario, we show also the case of adiabatic evolution in dashed lines. In this case, we ignore the entropy injection from the scalar field decay, such that $\rho_{\rm SM} \propto a^{-4}$ during all stages and $n_{\rm DM} \propto a^{-3}$ after the production of the initial abundance during stage I. The contributions to DM production in each stage are detailed in the right panel of figure 2. Both plots show that the number density of DM is enhanced because of the decay of the scalar (production in stages III and IV). The values of DM relic density obtained from the numerical and the analytical solutions are

also presented in the right panel and show very good agreement.

The DM abundance and whether it is dominated by freeze-in or phase-in depends on the interplay of multiple parameters: the temperature after inflationary reheating $T_{\rm RH}$, the properties of the scalar field and its potential – characterized by $T_{\rm PT}$, ΔV , Γ and ω – as well as the dimension of the non-renormalizable interaction between SM and DM, encoded in the parameter n. In figure 3, we show the effect of varying individual parameters starting from the same benchmark point as in figure 2. For this set of figures $T_{\rm RH}$ is kept constant. In each case, the total abundance of DM relics, $\Omega_{\rm DM}h^2$, and the fraction of DM originating from phase-in, $f_{\rm PI}$, are calculated. The latter is defined as:

$$f_{\rm PI} = \frac{\Omega_{\rm DM, PI} h^2}{\Omega_{\rm DM} h^2},\tag{4.9}$$

where $\Omega_{DM,PI}$ is obtained by considering only the contributions to DM production after the phase transition (stages III and IV).

The top-left panel of figure 3 is identical to figure 2. In this case, phase-in accounts for 76% of the final DM abundance. In the top-right panel we consider the case of slower decays of the scalar field. While this increases the overall abundance of DM relative to the benchmark point, the relative contribution from phase-in remains almost constant. Indeed, in the next section we will show that our analytical approximation predicts that for n = 1and $\omega = 0$ the phase-in fraction is independent of Γ .

The two panels in the middle row of figure 3 illustrate that more strongly supercooled phase transitions, i.e. a smaller $T_{\rm PT}$ or higher values for the latent heat ΔV , lead to more dilution of the initial DM abundance and an enhancement of the phased-in contributions. The two panels in the bottom row show that phase-in is more difficult to achieve if the equation of state of the decaying scalar field has $\omega > 0$, or if the interaction operator is of higher dimension (n > 1).

Overall, we find that phase-in is most efficient when the decaying scalar field behaves like matter $\omega = 0$, for lower dimensions of the interaction and for strongly supercooled phase transitions. In the following section we will quantify these findings more systematically.

5 Conditions for dark matter phase-in

In this section, we study how the fractional phase-in contribution $f_{\rm PI}$ defined in eq. (4.9) depends on the various model parameters. While the total amount of DM produced depends on the temperature scale when freeze-in is most efficient, the phase-in fraction is almost completely independent of $T_{\rm RH}$ (except for the implicit temperature dependence of the effective degrees of freedom g_*). For the purpose of this section, we will therefore fix the reheating temperature to $T_{\rm RH} = 1$ TeV. Moreover, $f_{\rm PI}$ is also independent of Λ and $m_{\rm DM}$.

The phase-in fraction can on dimensional grounds depend on the various model parameters only through dimensionless ratios. Keeping in mind that the vacuum energy ΔV and the temperature at the beginning of vacuum domination $T_{\rm VD}$ are related via



Figure 3: The upper left panel corresponds to the same benchmark point as in figure 2, with $\omega = 0$ and n = 1. In each of the other panels we show the impact of varying individual parameters. The value $f_{\rm PI}$ represents the fraction of DM relic density produced through phase-in. Note that in the bottom-right panel both the value of n and the value of Λ are modified, with the latter being fixed by the relic density requirement. The benchmark values are: $m_{\rm DM} = 1 \,\mathrm{MeV}, T_{\rm RH} = 3 \cdot 10^3 \,\mathrm{GeV}, T_{\rm PT} = 300 \,\mathrm{GeV}, \,\Delta V = 10^{13} \,\mathrm{GeV}^4, \,\Gamma = 10^{-14} \,\mathrm{GeV}$ and $\Lambda = 1.88 \cdot 10^{13} \,\mathrm{GeV}$.



Figure 4: Fraction $f_{\rm PI}$ of DM produced via phase-in as a function of the dimensionless temperature ratios $\xi_{\rm VD} = \frac{T_{\rm RH}}{T_{\rm VD}}$ and $\xi_{\rm PT} = \frac{T_{\rm VD}}{T_{\rm PT}}$ for interactions via a dimension-5 operator (n = 1) and assuming that the scalar field behaves like matter after the phase transition $(\omega = 0)$. The dimensionless decay rate is $\gamma = \frac{\Gamma}{H(a_{\rm PT})} = 0.1$, corresponding to a slow decay of the scalar field.

 $\rho_{\rm SM}(T_{\rm VD}) = \Delta V$, we choose the following three combinations:

$$\xi_{\rm VD} \equiv \frac{T_{\rm RH}}{T_{\rm VD}} , \qquad \qquad \xi_{\rm PT} \equiv \frac{T_{\rm VD}}{T_{\rm PT}} , \qquad \qquad \gamma \equiv \Gamma \sqrt{\frac{3M_{\rm Pl}^2}{8\pi\Delta V}} . \tag{5.1}$$

The temperature ratio $\xi_{\rm VD}$ quantifies how long the universe spends in radiation domination after inflationary reheating and before the onset of vacuum domination. The temperature ratio $\xi_{\rm PT}$ characterises the amount of supercooling of the phase transition, i.e. the duration of vacuum domination. During this period of accelerated expansion, the scale factor grows approximately by $\log \xi_{\rm PT}$ e-folds. The dimensionless decay constant γ determines how quickly the universe returns to radiation domination after the phase transition. Although in our setup $\xi_{\rm VD,PT} \geq 1$, the dimensionless decay constant can take values both greater than unity (corresponding to instantaneous reheating) or smaller than unity (slow reheating).

In figure 4, we show the dependence of $f_{\rm PI}$ on $\xi_{\rm VD}$ and $\xi_{\rm PT}$ by numerically solving the system of Boltzmann equations (4.1)–(4.3). We consider a case in which the scalar field behaves like matter after the phase transition ($\omega = 0$), the DM production proceeds via a 5-dimensional operator (n = 1), and the scalar decay rate is smaller than the Hubble expansion rate at the moment of the phase transition ($\gamma = 0.1$, slow reheating). We observe that more supercooling (larger values of $\xi_{\rm PT}$) correspond to a larger fraction of the phase-in fraction, while a delayed onset of vacuum domination (larger values of $\xi_{\rm VD}$) reduces the phase-in contribution.

We can understand these findings using the analytical estimates obtained in section 3. As shown in eq. (3.26), the total DM abundance is determined by two separate contributions: the freeze-in contribution produced immediately after inflationary reheating (stage I) and phase-in contribution produced at the end of the second reheating period (stage III and IV). The former is enhanced by the larger temperature but suppressed by the dilution factor D defined in eq. (3.22), so it is a priori unclear which contribution dominates.

Let us define the ratio of the two contributions

$$r = \frac{\Omega_{\rm DM,PI}}{\Omega_{\rm DM,FI}} \tag{5.2}$$

such that $f_{\rm PI} = r/(1+r)$. The requirement that the DM abundance is dominated by the phase-in contribution ($f_{\rm PI} > 0.5$) then translates to r > 1. From eq. (3.26), we infer

$$r = D(1+\kappa) \left(\frac{T_{\rm RD}}{T_{\rm RH}}\right)^{2n-1}$$
(5.3)

for the case of slow reheating, i.e. $\Gamma < H(a_{\rm PT})$. In terms of the dimensionful quantities (i.e. neglecting dimensionless numerical factors of order unity) we obtain

$$r \approx T_{\rm RH}^{1-2n} T_{\rm PT}^{-3} \left(M_{\rm Pl} \Gamma \right)^{1+n-\frac{2}{1+\omega}} \Delta V^{\frac{1}{1+\omega}} g_{\star}^{-(n+1)/2} .$$
 (5.4)

Clearly, the condition r > 1 becomes easier to satisfy if the phase transition is more strongly supercooled, i.e. if $T_{\rm PT}$ is as small and ΔV as large as possible. For constant supercooling, $\xi_{\rm PT} = \text{const}$, the phase transition should happen as early as possible, i.e. shortly after inflationary reheating.

A surprising implication of eq. (5.4) is that for n > 1 or $\omega > 0$ the stage-I contribution is suppressed by making Γ as large as possible, i.e. by reheating the SM thermal bath as quickly as possible after the phase transition. Extending the period of scalar field domination (stage III) actually suppresses the contribution from stages III and IV relative to the one from stage I. For n = 1 and $\omega = 0$, eq. (5.4) becomes independent of Γ , i.e. the length of stage III is inconsequential for the relative importance of the two contributions.

This conclusion holds in particular for the case of an early period of matter domination, which is recovered if we set $\omega = 0$ and assume that there is no period of vacuum domination, i.e. that $a_{\rm VD} = a_{\rm PT}$ or $\Delta V = \pi^2 g_{\star} T_{\rm PT}^4/30$. In this case, we obtain

$$r^{\rm EMD} = T_{\rm PT} T_{\rm RH}^{1-2n} \left(M_{\rm Pl} \Gamma \right)^{-1+n} g_{\star}^{-(n-1)/2} , \qquad (5.5)$$

such that $r^{\text{EMD}} > 1$ can never be satisfied for $n \ge 1$ since $T_{\text{RH}} > T_{\text{PT}} \gtrsim \sqrt{M_{\text{Pl}}\Gamma}$. We conclude that for freeze-in production of DM via non-renormalisable interactions, a period of early matter domination is insufficient to suppress the freeze-in contribution relative to the phase-in contribution. In other words, while such a period does dilute the pre-existing abundance, it also suppresses phase-in production by the same amount. To enhance the latter contribution relative to the former, it is necessary to have a supercooled phase transition with $\Delta V > \pi^2 g_{\star} T_{\text{PT}}^4/30$.

For the case of instantaneous reheating, i.e. $\Gamma > H(a_{\rm PT})$, we find

$$r^{\text{inst}} = D^{\text{inst}} \left(\frac{T_{\text{RD}}}{T_{\text{RH}}^{\text{inst}}}\right)^{2n-1} , \qquad (5.6)$$

which corresponds to

$$r^{\text{inst}} \approx T_{\text{RH}}^{-2n+1} T_{\text{PT}}^{-3} \Delta V \frac{n+1}{2} g_{\star}^{-(n+1)/2} \left(\frac{8\pi}{3}\right)^{\frac{1+n}{2} - \frac{1}{1+\omega}} .$$
 (5.7)

As expected, this expression is always independent of Γ and ω and agrees with eq. (5.4) for n = 1, $\omega = 0$. The final numerical factor has been included to ensure that eqs. (5.4) and (5.7) match for $\Gamma = H(a_{\rm PT})$. In fact, we can combine the two inequalities in a more economical form and smoothly interpolate between the late reheating and instantaneous reheating case by writing

$$r^{\text{comb}} \approx T_{\text{RH}}^{-2n+1} T_{\text{PT}}^{-3} \Delta V^{\frac{n+1}{2}} g_{\star}^{-(n+1)/2} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\Delta V}}{M_{\text{Pl}}\Gamma} + \sqrt{\frac{3}{8\pi}} \right)^{\frac{2}{1+w}-1-n} , \qquad (5.8)$$

which reproduces eqs. (5.4) and (5.7) in the limit $\gamma \ll 1$ and $\gamma \gg 1$, respectively. In terms of the dimensionless ratios defined in eq. (5.1) we find

$$r^{\text{comb}} \approx \xi_{\text{PT}}^3 \, \xi_{\text{VD}}^{1-2n} \left(\frac{\pi^2}{30}\right)^{\frac{n+1}{2}} \left[\sqrt{\frac{3}{8\pi}} \left(1+\frac{1}{\gamma}\right)\right]^{-n-1+\frac{2}{1+\omega}} \,. \tag{5.9}$$

In figure 5, we show the values of $\xi_{\rm VD}$ and $\xi_{\rm PT}$ that correspond to the boundary between freeze-in and phase-in, i.e. $f_{\rm PI} = 0.5$. The parameter region above and to the left of a given curve corresponds to DM production dominated by phase-in, while freeze-in provides the main contribution below and to the right. In the two columns, we consider different equations of state for the scalar field: a matter-like behaviour ($\omega = 0$) and an intermediate behavior between radiation and matter ($\omega = 0.2$). In the two rows, we consider DM production via 5- and 6-dimensional operators corresponding respectively to n = 1 and n = 2. Curves of different colors correspond to different values of the dimensionless decay rate γ defined in eq. (5.1). Finally, we compare the analytical approximation in eq. (5.9), represented by dash-dotted lines, with the detailed numerical solutions of the Boltzmann equations represented by solid lines.

In the top-left panel ($\omega = 0$ and n = 1), all the analytical curves coincide. The numerical results, on the other hand, show a mild dependence on the decay rate, which indicates that the cancellation of γ (or equivalently of Γ) in the analytical expressions is due to the approximations made in the derivation, see the discussion following eq. (5.4). Nonetheless, the results show that phase-in is dominant in nearly all of the parameter space considered. In particular, even for large values of $\xi_{\rm VD}$ up to 20, phase-in constitutes the main contribution to the DM abundance, provided that $\xi_{\rm PT} \gtrsim 3$, i.e. that the phase transition is preceded by more than one e-fold of vacuum domination.

In the top-right panel ($\omega = 0.2$ and n = 1), we observe a more pronounced dependence of the phase-in condition on the decay rate γ . This is because for $\omega > 0$, the energy density



Figure 5: Illustration of the phase-in condition for several scenarios described by different combinations of values of ω and n in each panel, and for different values of $\gamma = \frac{\Gamma}{H(a_{\rm PT})}$, associated to different colors. The phase-in condition corresponds to a phase-in fraction $f_{\rm PI} = 0.5$ and marks the boundary between the region of parameter space where the DM production is dominated by the freeze-in contribution coming from stages I and II (below and to the right of each line) and the region of the parameter space where the phase-in contribution produced in stages III and IV dominates (above and to the left of each line). Solid line corresponds to the phase-in condition extracted from the numerical solution of the Boltzmann equations; the dash-dotted line corresponds to the condition analytically estimated in eq. (5.9)).

of the scalar field decreases more rapidly than for $\omega = 0$, such that the dilution effect (and hence the relevance of the phase-in contribution) is suppressed for slower decays (smaller γ). For the case of instantaneous reheating ($\gamma = 10$), the result does not depend on ω and therefore agrees with the corresponding curve in the top-left panel. We also note that for small values of $\xi_{\rm VD}$, the analytical curves begin to deviate from the numerical results. This difference can be explained by the fact that the simplifying assumptions used in the derivation break when stages I and II becomes too short. The two panels in the bottom row, where n = 2, show that a dominant phase-in contribution is more difficult to achieve if the cross section of DM production depends more strongly on the temperature of the SM bath. Compared to the case with n = 1, much larger values of $\xi_{\rm PT}$, i.e. much stronger supercooling, are needed for the phase-in condition to be satisfied. The intuitive explanation is that the stronger temperature dependence enhances the freeze-in contribution compared to that of phase-in, since the former takes places at much higher temperatures. This enhancement becomes larger with increasing $\xi_{\rm VD}$ but can be compensated by a larger amount of dilution, corresponding to larger $\xi_{\rm PT}$. Moreover, to avoid a further decrease of the temperature of the SM thermal bath after the phase transition, the scalar field should decay as quickly as possible after the phase transition, in particular for $\omega = 0.2$, as considered in bottom-right panel. Nevertheless, even in this case, phase-in can be dominant for sufficiently large values of $\xi_{\rm PT}$ and γ and sufficiently small values of $\xi_{\rm VD}$.

In general, figure 5 confirms our conclusion from section 4, namely that the full numerical results can be quite accurately reproduced with our analytical approximations. These findings justify *a posteriori* the various simplifications and imply that the analytical condition in eq. (5.9) provides a useful guidance to estimate the relevance of the phase-in contribution and to determine the most interesting regions of parameter space. Nevertheless, the agreement is clearly not perfect, highlighting the importance of solving the system of Boltzmann equations numerically when a higher level of precision is needed.

6 Phenomenological implications

6.1 Decaying axion-like particles and nano-Hertz gravitational waves

As we have seen in the previous section, dark matter phase-in requires a strongly supercooled phase transition and prefers a quick reheating of the thermal bath after the end of the phase transition. As a result, the dark matter abundance becomes directly sensitive to the temperature $T_{\rm RD}$, that encodes the decay rate of the scalar Γ , or, in the instantaneous reheating limit, its energy density before the phase transition ΔV . Since a strongly-cooled first-order phase transition is expected to give rise to a strong gravitational wave background, this temperature can potentially be measured. Indeed, the peak frequency $f_{\rm peak}$ of the stochastic gravitational wave spectrum is expected to be directly proportional to the temperature of the SM thermal bath after the phase transition [64]:

$$f_{\text{peak}} = 1 \,\text{mHz}\left(\frac{T_{\text{RD}}}{1 \,\text{TeV}}\right) \left(\frac{\beta/H}{10}\right) D^{-1/3} \,, \tag{6.1}$$

where β/H characterises the speed of the phase transition and a value $\beta/H \sim 10$ is typical for phase transitions with strong supercooling and large gravitational wave production.

Let us for concreteness consider the case of an axion-like particle (ALP) coupled to photons via the interaction term

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm int} = \frac{g_{a\gamma}}{4} a F^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu} . \qquad (6.2)$$

Since the effective coupling $g_{a\gamma}$ has mass dimension -1, the interaction is non-renormalisable, and freeze-in production of ALPs is UV dominated. Indeed, it was shown in ref. [69] that the cross section for ALP production via the Primakoff process is independent of temperature, corresponding to eq. (2.4) with $n = 1.^5$ For ordinary freeze-in, the resulting would-be abundance of ALPs is found to be [72]

$$\tilde{\Omega}_a h^2 = 5 \times 10^{-7} \left(\frac{m_a}{1 \,\mathrm{MeV}}\right) \left(\frac{T_{\mathrm{RH}}}{10 \,\mathrm{MeV}}\right) \left(\frac{g_{a\gamma}}{10^{-12} \,\mathrm{GeV}^{-1}}\right)^2 \,. \tag{6.3}$$

However, for the couplings and masses chosen in the estimate above, the ALPs actually do not survive until the present day, instead, they decay with a lifetime of approximately

$$\tau_a \approx 10^{11} \,\mathrm{s} \left(\frac{g_{a\gamma}}{10^{-12} \,\mathrm{GeV}^{-1}}\right)^{-2} \left(\frac{m_a}{1 \,\mathrm{MeV}}\right)^{-3} \,.$$
 (6.4)

The example values of m_a , $T_{\rm RH}$ and $g_{a\gamma}$ in the above equations have been chosen to satisfy all current experimental constraints [72]. However, the effect of ALPs with such masses and couplings on the CMB spectral shape can potentially be observed by the proposed PIXIE mission [73]. Measuring both μ and y distortions would make it possible to infer both τ_a and $\tilde{\Omega}_a h^2$ [74], so that m_a and $g_{a\gamma}$ can be inferred if $T_{\rm RH}$ is known.

Determining $T_{\rm RH}$ from cosmological data is generally challenging. However, if ALPs are produced predominantly through the phase-in mechanism, $T_{\rm RH}$ in eq. (6.3) is replaced by the temperature $T_{\rm RD}$ after the phase transition. This temperature may be directly measurable if the phase transition at the same time generates an observable gravitational wave signal. In the example above, the interesting temperature range is $T_{\rm RD} \sim 10\text{--}100 \text{ MeV}$, corresponding to gravitational wave frequencies $f_{\rm peak} \sim 10\text{--}100 \text{ nHz}$, i.e. in the range probed by pulsar timing arrays. A combination of these measurements with future measurements of CMB spectral distortions may hence reveal ALPs produced via the phase-in mechanism.

6.2 Sterile neutrinos as a mixture of warm and cold dark matter

So far, we have only discussed the DM number density, assuming that the kinetic energy redshifts fast enough to be irrelevant for structure formation. For ordinary freeze-in production of DM, this is typically a good approximation for $m_{\rm DM} \gtrsim 15 \,\rm keV$ [60]. For smaller masses, the free-streaming of DM particles can have an observable effect on small-scale structure formation, which can be probed in particular with measurements of the Lyman- α forest.

Since DM particles produced via freeze-in do not in general follow a thermal distribution [75], a detailed study of these constraints requires solving the Boltzmann equation at the phase-space level in order to predict the linear matter power spectrum $\mathcal{P}(k)$, which requires model-specific calculations of the relevant cross sections. Nevertheless, for a first estimate, we can assume that DM particles produced directly from the thermal bath at temperatures much larger than the DM mass will inherit a kinetic energy comparable to

⁵See refs. [70, 71] for recent refinements in the calculation of the freeze-in production of ALPs.

the temperature of the thermal bath, such that the phase space distribution will approximately resemble a thermal distribution with temperature comparable to the one of the SM thermal bath.

In the case of phase-in production of DM, however, the situation becomes more interesting. The DM particles produced before the phase transition (at temperatures close to $T_{\rm RH}$) will initially have similar kinetic energies as the SM bath particles. However, the entropy injected into the SM thermal bath after the phase transition increases the temperature of the latter relative to the former. Once the universe has returned to radiation domination after the phase transition, the typical kinetic energy of the DM particles will be of the order of $T/D^{1/3}$ with the dilution factor D defined in eq. (3.22). As a result, the Lyman- α forest bound on the warm dark matter mass is relaxed by a factor $D^{1/3}$, and it becomes possible to have cold dark matter even for sub-keV masses.

The phase-in contribution, on the other hand, will yield DM particles with much larger kinetic energy, comparable to T, such that the phase space distribution becomes bimodal. Effectively, dark matter behaves like a mixture of warm and cold dark matter, even though it comprises a single particle species, because production happens at two different points in the evolution of the universe. Such a mixture leads to a characteristic step-like feature in the transfer function $\mathcal{T}(k) = (\mathcal{P}(k)/\mathcal{P}_{cdm}(k))^{1/2}$, where \mathcal{P}_{cdm} denotes the linear matter power spectrum of cold dark matter. The position of the step is determined by the warm dark matter mass, while the height of the step is determined by the fraction of warm dark matter f_{wdm} [76].

Let us for concreteness consider a sterile neutrino N produced from interactions of SM fermions f via a vector mediator that is heavy compared to the reheating temperature $T_{\rm RH}$. The effective interaction can then be written as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm int} = \frac{1}{\Lambda^2} \bar{N} \gamma^{\mu} N \bar{f} \gamma_{\mu} f , \qquad (6.5)$$

corresponding to UV-dominated freeze-in with n = 2. Setting for example $m_N = 1 \text{ keV}$, the phase-in contribution would correspond to warm dark matter. For $D \gtrsim 5000$, the freeze-in contribution, on the other hand, is indistinguishable from cold dark matter. Such a dilution can be achieved for example for $T_{\rm PT} = 200 \text{ GeV}$, $\Delta V = 10^{14} \text{ GeV}^4$, $\Gamma = 10^{-14} \text{ GeV}$ and $\omega = 0$.

With these parameters fixed, the value of $f_{\rm wdm}$ depends exclusively on $T_{\rm RH}$ (assuming that Λ is adjusted in such a way that the total abundance of sterile neutrinos matches the observed value). Numerically, we find

$$f_{\rm wdm} \approx \frac{1}{1 + \left(\frac{T_{\rm RH}}{1850 \, {\rm GeV}}\right)^3} \tag{6.6}$$

To satisfy the observational upper bound $f_{\rm wdm} < 0.25$ for $m_N = 1 \text{ keV}$ [77], we thus require $T_{\rm RH} \gtrsim 2.7 \text{ TeV}$.

7 Conclusions

The freeze-in mechanism offers an attractive alternative to the WIMP paradigm by extending the relevant parameter space of dark matter (DM) models to smaller couplings. It however introduces a new complication, namely the sensitivity of the predicted DM abundance to initial conditions. This sensitivity is particularly severe in the case of UVdominated freeze-in via non-renormalisable interactions, for which most of DM is produced at the highest temperatures of the Standard Model (SM) thermal bath. As a result, predictions depend on the reheating temperature $T_{\rm RH}$ as well as on the details of inflationary reheating, which are difficult to constrain observationally.

In this work, we investigated the sensitivity of DM freeze-in to the dynamics of the early Universe in a general set-up that includes a cosmological first-order phase transition. We showed that in this setting DM production via non-renormalisable interactions is not always dominated by the highest temperatures of the SM thermal bath, but instead may be governed by the period immediately after the phase transition, during which the scalar field transfers its energy density to the SM thermal bath. We refer to this alternative production regime as *DM phase-in*.

Concretely, we considered a radiation-dominated post-inflationary universe, characterized by the reheating scale $T_{\rm RH}$, and assumed that DM is produced from the radiation bath via a non-renormalizable operator of dimension 4 + n. As the SM temperature decreases, a scalar field trapped in a metastable vacuum becomes the largest energy component, leading to a period of vacuum domination. This sets the stage for a supercooled first-order phase transition, after which the scalar fluctuations decay and inject energy into the SM bath. If this secondary reheating dilutes the previously produced DM abundance enough, a second period of DM production can give a relevant or even leading contribution to the final DM abundance.

We derived a system of coupled Boltzmann equations that describe the evolution of the energy and number densities of the different components of the universe (SM particles, scalar field, dark radiation and DM), and solved them both numerically and (with some approximations) analytically. We found that the final abundance of DM can be split into two separate contributions: (i) the freeze-in contribution produced immediately below $T_{\rm RH}$, and (ii) the phased-in contribution generated after the phase transition. The former contribution depends on the details of the phase transition and the subsequent dilution, such as the amount of vacuum energy ΔV , and the equation of state ω and the decay rate Γ of the scalar field after the phase transition. The amount of DM produced via phase-in, on the other hand, is sensitive almost exclusively to the temperature $T_{\rm RD}$ when the universe returns to radiation domination.

Using the approximate solutions, we derived a simple analytical condition in terms of the model parameters that can be used to determine whether DM production is dominated by freeze-in or phase-in, see eq. (5.8). We validated this condition against the full numerical solution to verify that it applies both to the case of instantaneous reheating after the phase transition and to slow decays of the scalar field. Furthermore, our findings are applicable for different equations of state of the scalar field after the phase transition. We conclude that phase-in can be easily achieved in different scenarios even with relatively small amounts of supercooling. Our detailed results are shown in figure 5. We find that the relative phase-in contribution is enhanced for more strongly supercooled phase transitions and for earlier onsets of vacuum domination. Crucially, a period of vacuum domination is essential for the phase-in mechanism to work: an early period of matter domination followed by reheating of the SM thermal bath via scalar field decays is not enough to suppress the relative contribution of the pre-existing DM relics for any value of $n \ge 1$ (i.e. any type of UV-dominated freeze-in).

In fact, for n > 1 or $\omega > 0$, the phase-in contribution is suppressed relative to the early freeze-in production if the scalar field decays only slowly after the phase transition. In other words, the relevance of phase-in is maximized for the case of instantaneous reheating after the phase transition. For n = 1 and $\omega = 0$, on the other hand, the phase-in condition becomes independent of Γ , i.e. the duration of matter domination after the phase transition is irrelevant for the relative importance of phase-in.

Our results provide an important new perspective on the UV sensitivity of freeze-in scenarios with low reheating temperature. Provided the conditions determined in our analysis are met, the presence of a supercooled first-order phase transition makes it possible to disregard the details of inflationary reheating and calculate the final DM abundance in terms of the temperature $T_{\rm RD}$ of the SM thermal bath after the phase transition. Apart from its conceptual simplicity, this set-up also opens up exciting observational possibilities. If the DM relics are to a large extent generated through phase-in, the resulting DM abundance is directly related to the peak frequency of the GW signals associated with the supercooled phase transition.

Furthermore, the phase-in scenario makes interesting predictions even in cases where its contribution does not dominate the final abundance. Since the production of DM takes place at two different times separated by a large amount of entropy injection, the final DM distribution can become a mixture of warm and cold DM. Our set-up therefore provides additional motivation to constrain the warm DM fraction $f_{\rm WDM}$, which is an important target for ongoing and future cosmological missions, such as DESI and EUCLID.

In the present work, we focused on the case where the mass of the DM particle is negligible compared to all relevant temperature scales, such that the DM production has a power-law dependence on the temperature of the SM thermal bath. Several recent studies explored the alternative case where the DM mass is larger than the reheating temperature, such that freeze-in production becomes Boltzmann-suppressed and depends exponentially on the SM temperature [42–45]. In this case, freeze-in may happen at substantially larger couplings and therefore within the reach of laboratory experiments. An exciting direction for future work will be to also explore "phase-in at larger couplings", i.e. to determine whether a supercooled first-order phase transition may sufficiently dilute the pre-existing DM abundance in order for the phase-in contribution to become relevant. In this case, it may be possible to correlate gravitational wave signals and cosmological data with results from laboratory experiments in order to pin down the properties of DM and constrain the evolution of the early universe.

Acknowledgments

We thank Nicolás Bernal, Yann Gouttenoire and Sebastian Hoof for discussions. This work is funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) through Grant No. 396021762 – TRR 257. FK thanks the Instituto de Física Teórica at UAM-CSIC for hospitality during the final stages of this project.

A Better estimates for the end of stage III

Naively, considering the condition $H \approx \Gamma$ to determine the end of stage III seems like a reasonable approximation. Although this allows for a rough estimate, it is not sufficient, as the final DM abundance is sensitive to $T_{\rm RD}$ in two ways: through $s_{\rm SM}(a_{\rm RD})$ and $n_{\rm DM}(a_{\rm RD})$. We find a better approximation of the numerical results for the relic density when we define $a_{\rm RD}$ as the moment of reestablishment of radiation domination, i.e. by setting the condition $\rho_{\rm SM}^{\rm III}(a_{\rm RD}) = \rho_{\phi}^{\rm III}(a_{\rm RD})$.

For this purpose, we use analytical estimates for the evolution of ρ_{SM} and ρ_{ϕ} . As explained in sec 3.3, we neglect the backreaction of the decay on the scalar field energy density (eq. 3.13) and its evolution can be approximated as

$$\rho_{\phi}^{\text{III}}(a) = \Delta V \left(\frac{a_{\text{PT}}}{a}\right)^{3(1+\omega)}.$$
(A.1)

At late times $a_{\rm PT} \ll a$, eq. 3.15 becomes dominated by the second reheating :

$$\rho_{\rm SM}^{\rm III}(a) = \frac{\pi^2}{30} g_* T_{\Gamma}^4 \left(\frac{a_{\rm PT}}{a}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}(\omega+1)}.$$
 (A.2)

Equating the previous two expressions gives the result we have used in our computations:

$$a_{\rm RD} = a_{\rm PT} \left(\sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{3}} \frac{(5-3\omega)\sqrt{\Delta V}}{\Gamma_{\phi} M_{\rm pl}} \right)^{\frac{2}{3(1+\omega)}} , \qquad (A.3)$$

with the corresponding temperature at RD

$$T_{\rm RD} = \left(\frac{45}{g_{\star}\pi^3}\right)^{1/4} \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma_{\phi}M_{\rm pl}}{(5-3\omega)}} \,. \tag{A.4}$$

Although the expressions above differ from the approximated definitions in eq. (2.11) and eq. (2.12) only by $\mathcal{O}(1)$ factors, taking the simpler approximation overestimates the final relic density by around 35% for the chosen benchmark point (see figure 6). To conclude, we note that $T_{\rm RD}^{\rm approx}/T_{\rm RD} = \sqrt{(5-3\omega)/2}$, i.e. the two results differ only by a factor $\sqrt{2}$ for $\omega = 1/3$ and $\sqrt{5/2}$ for $\omega = 0$. For the scale factor the corresponding ratio is given by:

$$\frac{a_{\rm RD}^{\rm approx}}{a_{\rm RD}} = \left(\frac{2}{5-3\omega}\right)^{\frac{2}{3(1+\omega)}} = \begin{cases} \left(\frac{2}{5}\right)^{2/3}, & \omega = 0\\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, & \omega = 1/3 \end{cases}$$
(A.5)



Figure 6: We show the results for the same benchmark point as in figure 2, but using the approximated expressions $a_{\text{RD}}^{\text{approx}}$ and $T_{\text{RD}}^{\text{approx}}$. The green vertical line at $a_{\text{RD}}^{\text{approx}}$ corresponds to the condition $\Gamma \approx H$, while a_{RD} correspond to $\rho_{\text{SM}}^{\text{III}}(a_{\text{RD}}) = \rho_{\phi}^{\text{III}}(a_{\text{RD}})$. Using $a_{\text{RD}}^{\text{approx}}$ underestimates the SM temperature at late times, leading to a bigger relic density prediction than from the numerical solution as well as from the improved expressions (see figure 2).

References

- C. Balazs, T. Bringmann, F. Kahlhoefer, and M. White, A Primer on Dark Matter, 2411.05062.
- [2] L. J. Hall, K. Jedamzik, J. March-Russell, and S. M. West, Freeze-In Production of FIMP Dark Matter, JHEP 03 (2010) 080, [0911.1120].
- [3] X. Chu, T. Hambye, and M. H. G. Tytgat, The Four Basic Ways of Creating Dark Matter Through a Portal, JCAP 05 (2012) 034, [1112.0493].
- [4] X. Chu, Y. Mambrini, J. Quevillon, and B. Zaldivar, Thermal and non-thermal production of dark matter via Z'-portal(s), JCAP 01 (2014) 034, [1306.4677].
- [5] M. Blennow, E. Fernandez-Martinez, and B. Zaldivar, *Freeze-in through portals*, *JCAP* 01 (2014) 003, [1309.7348].
- [6] N. Bernal, M. Heikinheimo, T. Tenkanen, K. Tuominen, and V. Vaskonen, *The Dawn of FIMP Dark Matter: A Review of Models and Constraints*, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 32 (2017), no. 27 1730023, [1706.07442].
- [7] F. D'Eramo, N. Fernandez, and S. Profumo, *Dark Matter Freeze-in Production in Fast-Expanding Universes*, JCAP 02 (2018) 046, [1712.07453].
- [8] R. T. Co, F. D'Eramo, L. J. Hall, and D. Pappadopulo, Freeze-In Dark Matter with Displaced Signatures at Colliders, JCAP 12 (2015) 024, [1506.07532].
- [9] T. Hambye, M. H. G. Tytgat, J. Vandecasteele, and L. Vanderheyden, *Dark matter direct detection is testing freeze-in*, *Phys. Rev. D* 98 (2018), no. 7 075017, [1807.05022].

- [10] G. Bélanger et al., *LHC-friendly minimal freeze-in models*, *JHEP* 02 (2019) 186, [1811.05478].
- [11] S. Heeba and F. Kahlhoefer, Probing the freeze-in mechanism in dark matter models with U(1)' gauge extensions, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020), no. 3 035043, [1908.09834].
- [12] J. M. No, P. Tunney, and B. Zaldivar, Probing Dark Matter freeze-in with long-lived particle signatures: MATHUSLA, HL-LHC and FCC-hh, JHEP 03 (2020) 022, [1908.11387].
- [13] L. Caloni, P. Stengel, M. Lattanzi, and M. Gerbino, Constraining UV freeze-in of light relics with current and next-generation CMB observations, JCAP 10 (2024) 106, [2405.09449].
- [14] A. Ghosh, P. Konar, and S. Show, Collider fingerprints of freeze-in production of dark matter amidst the fast expansion phase of Universe, 2411.09464.
- [15] X. Yin, S. Xu, and S. Zheng, LHC-friendly freeze-in dark matter via Higgs portal, 2412.18721.
- [16] G. Bélanger, F. Boudjema, A. Goudelis, A. Pukhov, and B. Zaldivar, *micrOMEGAs5.0 : Freeze-in*, Comput. Phys. Commun. 231 (2018) 173–186, [1801.03509].
- [17] T. Bringmann, S. Heeba, F. Kahlhoefer, and K. Vangsnes, *Freezing-in a hot bath: resonances, medium effects and phase transitions, JHEP* 02 (2022) 110, [2111.14871].
- [18] L. Darmé, A. Hryczuk, D. Karamitros, and L. Roszkowski, Forbidden frozen-in dark matter, JHEP 11 (2019) 159, [1908.05685].
- [19] V. De Romeri, D. Karamitros, O. Lebedev, and T. Toma, *Neutrino dark matter and the Higgs portal: improved freeze-in analysis*, *JHEP* **10** (2020) 137, [2003.12606].
- [20] S. Biondini and J. Ghiglieri, Freeze-in produced dark matter in the ultra-relativistic regime, JCAP 03 (2021) 075, [2012.09083].
- [21] C. Dvorkin, T. Lin, and K. Schutz, *Making dark matter out of light: freeze-in from plasma effects*, *Phys. Rev. D* 99 (2019), no. 11 115009, [1902.08623]. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 105, 119901 (2022)].
- [22] N. Chakrabarty, P. Konar, R. Roshan and, and S. Show, Thermally corrected masses and freeze-in dark matter: A case study, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023), no. 3 035021, [2206.02233].
- [23] M. Becker, E. Copello, J. Harz, and C. Tamarit, Dark matter freeze-in from non-equilibrium QFT: towards a consistent treatment of thermal effects, 2312.17246.
- [24] N. Bernal and O. Zapata, Gravitational dark matter production: primordial black holes and UV freeze-in, Phys. Lett. B 815 (2021) 136129, [2011.02510].
- [25] Y. Mambrini and K. A. Olive, Gravitational Production of Dark Matter during Reheating, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021), no. 11 115009, [2102.06214].
- [26] O. Lebedev and J.-H. Yoon, On gravitational preheating, JCAP 07 (2022), no. 07 001, [2203.15808].
- [27] O. Lebedev, Scalar overproduction in standard cosmology and predictivity of non-thermal dark matter, JCAP 02 (2023) 032, [2210.02293].
- [28] R. Zhang, Z. Xu, and S. Zheng, Gravitational freeze-in dark matter from Higgs preheating, JCAP 07 (2023) 048, [2305.02568].
- [29] S. E. Henrich, Y. Mambrini, and K. A. Olive, Aspects of Gravitational Portals and Freeze-in during Reheating, 2412.13288.

- [30] M. A. G. Garcia, K. Kaneta, Y. Mambrini, and K. A. Olive, *Reheating and Post-inflationary Production of Dark Matter*, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020), no. 12 123507, [2004.08404].
- [31] M. A. G. Garcia, K. Kaneta, Y. Mambrini, K. A. Olive, and S. Verner, *Freeze-in from preheating*, *JCAP* 03 (2022), no. 03 016, [2109.13280].
- [32] B. Barman, N. Bernal, Y. Xu, and O. Zapata, *Ultraviolet freeze-in with a time-dependent inflaton decay*, *JCAP* 07 (2022), no. 07 019, [2202.12906].
- [33] M. Becker, E. Copello, J. Harz, J. Lang, and Y. Xu, *Confronting dark matter freeze-in during reheating with constraints from inflation*, *JCAP* **01** (2024) 053, [2306.17238].
- [34] K. Freese, G. Montefalcone, and B. Shams Es Haghi, *Dark Matter Production during Warm Inflation via Freeze-In*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **133** (2024), no. 21 211001, [2401.17371].
- [35] F. Elahi, C. Kolda, and J. Unwin, UltraViolet Freeze-in, JHEP 03 (2015) 048, [1410.6157].
- [36] S.-L. Chen and Z. Kang, On UltraViolet Freeze-in Dark Matter during Reheating, JCAP 05 (2018) 036, [1711.02556].
- [37] N. Bernal, F. Elahi, C. Maldonado, and J. Unwin, Ultraviolet Freeze-in and Non-Standard Cosmologies, JCAP 11 (2019) 026, [1909.07992].
- [38] B. Barman, D. Borah, and R. Roshan, Effective Theory of Freeze-in Dark Matter, JCAP 11 (2020) 021, [2007.08768].
- [39] E. Frangipane, S. Gori, and B. Shakya, *Dark matter freeze-in with a heavy mediator: beyond the EFT approach*, *JHEP* **09** (2022) 083, [2110.10711].
- [40] J. Silva-Malpartida, N. Bernal, J. Jones-Pérez, and R. A. Lineros, From WIMPs to FIMPs with low reheating temperatures, JCAP 09 (2023) 015, [2306.14943].
- [41] N. Bernal, C. S. Fong, and O. Zapata, Probing low-reheating scenarios with minimal freeze-in dark matter, 2412.04550.
- [42] C. Cosme, F. Costa, and O. Lebedev, *Freeze-in at stronger coupling*, Phys. Rev. D 109 (2024), no. 7 075038, [2306.13061].
- [43] K. K. Boddy, K. Freese, G. Montefalcone, and B. Shams Es Haghi, Minimal Dark Matter Freeze-in with Low Reheating Temperatures and Implications for Direct Detection, 2405.06226.
- [44] G. Arcadi, F. Costa, A. Goudelis, and O. Lebedev, *Higgs portal dark matter freeze-in at stronger coupling: observational benchmarks*, *JHEP* 07 (2024) 044, [2405.03760].
- [45] P. Cox, M. J. Dolan, and F. J. Hiskens, *Photonic Freeze-In*, 2412.17308.
- [46] R. Mondal, S. Mondal, and T. Yamada, Freeze-in and Freeze-out production of Higgs Portal Majorana Fermionic Dark Matter during and after Reheating, 2503.20738.
- [47] L. Calibbi, F. D'Eramo, S. Junius, L. Lopez-Honorez, and A. Mariotti, *Displaced new physics at colliders and the early universe before its first second*, *JHEP* 05 (2021) 234, [2102.06221].
- [48] A. Banerjee and D. Chowdhury, Fingerprints of freeze-in dark matter in an early matter-dominated era, SciPost Phys. 13 (2022), no. 2 022, [2204.03670].
- [49] J. Silva-Malpartida, N. Bernal, J. Jones-Pérez, and R. A. Lineros, From WIMPs to FIMPs: Impact of Early Matter Domination, 2408.08950.
- [50] C. Cosme, F. Costa, and O. Lebedev, *Temperature evolution in the Early Universe and freeze-in at stronger coupling*, *JCAP* 06 (2024) 031, [2402.04743].

- [51] N. Bernal, K. Deka, and M. Losada, Dark Matter Ultraviolet Freeze-in in General Reheating Scenarios, 2501.04774.
- [52] R. Allahverdi and J. K. Osiński, Freeze-in Production of Dark Matter Prior to Early Matter Domination, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020), no. 6 063503, [1909.01457].
- [53] S. Heeba, F. Kahlhoefer, and P. Stöcker, Freeze-in production of decaying dark matter in five steps, JCAP 11 (2018) 048, [1809.04849].
- [54] O. Lebedev and T. Toma, *Relativistic Freeze-in*, Phys. Lett. B **798** (2019) 134961, [1908.05491].
- [55] M. J. Baker, M. Breitbach, J. Kopp, and L. Mittnacht, Dynamic Freeze-In: Impact of Thermal Masses and Cosmological Phase Transitions on Dark Matter Production, JHEP 03 (2018) 114, [1712.03962].
- [56] X.-R. Wong and K.-P. Xie, Freeze-in of WIMP dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023), no. 5 055035, [2304.00908].
- [57] S. Y. Ayazi and M. Hosseini, Beyond Freeze-Out: A Novel Freeze-in Mechanism for Dark Matter via Supercooled Phase Transitions, 2502.14526.
- [58] F. D'Eramo and A. Lenoci, Lower mass bounds on FIMP dark matter produced via freeze-in, JCAP 10 (2021) 045, [2012.01446].
- [59] Y. Du, F. Huang, H.-L. Li, Y.-Z. Li, and J.-H. Yu, Revisiting dark matter freeze-in and freeze-out through phase-space distribution, JCAP 04 (2022), no. 04 012, [2111.01267].
- [60] Q. Decant, J. Heisig, D. C. Hooper, and L. Lopez-Honorez, Lyman-α constraints on freeze-in and superWIMPs, JCAP 03 (2022) 041, [2111.09321].
- [61] Z. Xu, Q. Zhou, and S. Zheng, Constraints on freeze-in dark matter from Lyman-α forest and 21-cm signal: Single-field models, Phys. Rev. D 110 (2024), no. 11 115003, [2407.08225].
- [62] G. F. Giudice, E. W. Kolb, and A. Riotto, Largest temperature of the radiation era and its cosmological implications, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 023508, [hep-ph/0005123].
- [63] N. Bernal, F. Elahi, C. Maldonado, and J. Unwin, *Ultraviolet freeze-in and non-standard cosmologies*, *Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics* **2019** (nov, 2019) 026–026.
- [64] T. Bringmann, T. E. Gonzalo, F. Kahlhoefer, J. Matuszak, and C. Tasillo, *Hunting WIMPs with LISA: correlating dark matter and gravitational wave signals*, *JCAP* 05 (2024) 065, [2311.06346].
- [65] S. Balan, T. Bringmann, F. Kahlhoefer, J. Matuszak, and C. Tasillo, Sub-GeV dark matter and nano-Hertz gravitational waves from a classically conformal dark sector, 2502.19478.
- [66] J. Ellis, M. Lewicki, J. M. No, and V. Vaskonen, *Gravitational wave energy budget in strongly supercooled phase transitions*, *JCAP* **06** (2019) 024, [1903.09642].
- [67] J. Ellis, M. Lewicki, and V. Vaskonen, Updated predictions for gravitational waves produced in a strongly supercooled phase transition, JCAP 11 (2020) 020, [2007.15586].
- [68] M. A. G. Garcia, Y. Mambrini, K. A. Olive, and M. Peloso, Enhancement of the Dark Matter Abundance Before Reheating: Applications to Gravitino Dark Matter, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017), no. 10 103510, [1709.01549].
- [69] M. Bolz, A. Brandenburg, and W. Buchmuller, *Thermal production of gravitinos*, *Nucl. Phys. B* 606 (2001) 518–544, [hep-ph/0012052]. [Erratum: Nucl.Phys.B 790, 336–337 (2008)].

- [70] M. Jain, A. Maggi, W.-Y. Ai, and D. J. E. Marsh, New insights into axion freeze-in, JHEP 11 (2024) 166, [2406.01678].
- [71] M. Becker, J. Harz, E. Morgante, C. Puchades-Ibáñez, and P. Schwaller, ALP Production from Abelian Gauge Bosons: Beyond Hard Thermal Loops, 2502.01729.
- [72] C. Balázs et al., Cosmological constraints on decaying axion-like particles: a global analysis, JCAP 12 (2022) 027, [2205.13549].
- [73] A. Kogut et al., The Primordial Inflation Explorer (PIXIE): Mission Design and Science Goals, 2405.20403.
- [74] D. Cadamuro and J. Redondo, Cosmological bounds on pseudo Nambu-Goldstone bosons, JCAP 02 (2012) 032, [1110.2895].
- [75] R. Murgia, A. Merle, M. Viel, M. Totzauer, and A. Schneider, "Non-cold" dark matter at small scales: a general approach, JCAP 11 (2017) 046, [1704.07838].
- [76] A. Boyarsky, J. Lesgourgues, O. Ruchayskiy, and M. Viel, Lyman-alpha constraints on warm and on warm-plus-cold dark matter models, JCAP 05 (2009) 012, [0812.0010].
- [77] D. C. Hooper, N. Schöneberg, R. Murgia, M. Archidiacono, J. Lesgourgues, et al., One likelihood to bind them all: Lyman-α constraints on non-standard dark matter, JCAP 10 (2022) 032, [2206.08188].